IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NUMBER 76,243

DONALD E. BLANCHARD, JR., and PATRICIA S. BLANCHARD,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

vs.

STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY, an Illinois corporation,

Defendant-Appellee.

JUL 12 1390

ON CERTIFICATION FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT TO THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 5, SECTION 3(b)(6) OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION

INITIAL BRIEF OF PLAINTIFFS-APPELLANTS (PARTIES MOVING FOR CERTIFICATION)

MARGOL & PENNINGTON, P.A. Suite 1702 American Heritage Tower 76 South Laura Street Jacksonville, FL 32202

I. Statement of the Case and of the Facts

The Procedural Background of the Case

As stated by the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals:

Plaintiffs-appellants Donald and Patricia Blanchard, husband and wife, had an automobile insurance policy, providing \$200,000.00 per person for uninsured motorist coverage, with defendant-appellee State Farm Automobile Insurance Company (State Farm). Donald Blanchard suffered permanent bodily injury when he was struck from behind while stopped on his bicycle at an intersection by an automobile driven by an uninsured motorist. Following State Farm's alleged refusal to make a good faith offer to settle the claim, the Blanchards filed a civil suit in the Fourth Judicial Circuit in and for Duval County, Florida.

(Slip opinion at 3118). Pursuant to Section 627.727, Florida Statutes (1985), the claim against the Blanchards' uninsured motorist carrier was brought in the same action as the claim against the tortfeasor (R1-1-3 through 4).

The case proceeded to trial and a verdict was returned in favor of Mr. and Mrs. Blanchard in the amount of $396,990^1$ (R1-1-16 through 17; R1-1-Exhibit "E"). Judgment was entered against the tortfeasor in the full amount of damages (R1-1-Exhibit "E"). Judgment was entered against State Farm in the amount of the policy limits of \$200,000 (R1-1-Exhibit "E"). As stated by the trial judge in the Final Judgment:

This cause was tried before a jury which rendered a verdict on July 21, 1988. Said jury verdict fixed the total damages of Plaintiff, Donald E. Blanchard, Jr., at \$386,000.00, and the total damages of Plaintiff, Patricia S. Blanchard, his wife, at \$15,000.00. The said jury verdict also fixed the percentage of negligence attributable to Defendant [tortfeasor], William Benjamin Powell, at 99% and the percentage of negligence attributable to Plaintiff, Donald E. Blanchard, Jr., at 1%. Thereafter, Defendant, State

¹The jury assessed Mr. Blanchard's damages at \$386,000 and Mrs. Blanchard's damages at \$15,000. After reduction for the finding of one percent comparative negligence on the part of Don Blanchard, the total amount of recoverable damages was \$396,990.

Farm, scheduled a hearing on its motion to limit judgment against it on the grounds that said Defendant's insurance policy coverage limits are \$100,000.00 under each of the two insurance policies involved herein, for a total "stacked" coverage limit of \$200,000.00. No separate order will be entered on that motion. Plaintiffs do not dispute the said coverage limits; however, they contend that they also have a "bad faith" claim against their insurer, State Farm, in connection with failure to settle their claim prior to trial. That claim is not before the Court and will not be dealt with in any way in this Final Judgment.

(R1-1-Exhibit "E", page 1). No appeal was taken from the state court judgment.

The Blanchards then commenced suit against State Farm in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida pursuant to Section 624.155, Florida Statutes (1987) (the Florida "Civil Remedy" statute for first-party insurer bad faith) (R1-1-1 through 6). In the federal diversity action, the Blanchards sought damages for their inconvenience and anguish caused by State Farm's failure to make a good faith settlement offer; and for the excess of the damages assessed in the first action over the policy limits (R1-1-5).

State Farm moved to dismiss, contending that the statutory claim for bad faith under Section 624.155 was required to be asserted in the original state court action against State Farm for the contractual uninsured motorist benefits; and that plaintiffs had "split their cause of action" by not alleging the bad faith claim in the original suit (R1-5). The district court granted the motion (R1-21; R1-22), and Mr. and Mrs. Blanchard appealed to the Eleventh Circuit.

On appeal, the Blanchards and State Farm requested the Eleventh Circuit to certify the case to this Court. The Eleventh Circuit initially denied the motion, preferring to consider the briefs and oral arguments on the merits in order to determine whether the case was truly appropriate for certification. Following briefing and argument of the case, the Eleventh Circuit ruled that it was "convinced that this question is appropriate for resolution by the Florida Supreme Court" (slip opinion at 3118). The questions certified by the Eleventh Circuit are as follows:

1. Does an insured's claim against an uninsured motorist carrier under Section 624.155(1)(b)1., Florida Statutes, for allegedly failing to settle the uninsured motorist claim in good faith accrue before the conclusion of the underlying litigation for the contractual uninsured motorist insurance benefits?

2. If so, is joinder of the claim under Section 624.155(1)(b)1. in the underlying litigation for contractual uninsured motorist benefits permissible?

3. If so, is joinder of the Section 624.155(1)(b)1. claim with the contractual claim mandatory?

The Eleventh Circuit noted that "[t]he phrasing of these questions is not intended

to limit the Florida Supreme Court's consideration of the various problems encountered by

parties litigating section 624.155(1)(b)1. claims." (Slip op. at 3120).

The Facts

Donald Blanchard was severely injured by the negligence of an uninsured motorist at a time when Mr. and Mrs. Blanchard had in full force and effect an automobile insurance policy with State Farm providing uninsured motorist ("UM") insurance coverage (R1-1-1 through 2).² The Blanchards, who had maintained their coverage with State Farm for

²On this appeal from an order dismissing a complaint, all well-pled allegations must be accepted as true. Square D Co. v. Niagara Frontier Tariff Bureau, 476 U.S. 409, 411 (1986); Hishon v. King & Spaulding, 467 U.S. 69, 73 (1984); McClain v. Real Estate Bd. of New Orleans, 444 U.S. 232, 246 (1980); Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 45-46 (1957); Thomas v. Town of Davie, 847 F.2d 771, 773 (11th Cir. 1988).

several years before the accident, had promptly paid all premiums due under the policy (R-1-2). The policy provided \$200,000 in UM coverage (R1-1-2).

Shortly after the accident, the Blanchards informed State Farm that Powell, the negligent motorist, did not have liability insurance coverage on the date of the accident and requested State Farm to submit the UM claim to arbitration (R1-1-2 through 3). Although the insurance policy provided for arbitration (R1-1-Exhibit "A", page 11), State Farm refused to arbitrate (R1-1-3). The Blanchards then requested State Farm to tender the applicable policy limits of \$200,000; however, State Farm did not do so and, indeed, did not make any offer of settlement (R1-1-3).

Notwithstanding State Farm's refusal to consent to arbitration and notwithstanding the lack of any settlement offer in response to the Blanchards' request, Mr. Blanchard voluntarily submitted to an independent physical examination on December 10, 1986, performed by an orthopedic surgeon selected by State Farm (R1-1-3). As alleged in the complaint,

The doctor who performed the examination, Georges El-Bahri, M.D., concluded that Mr. Blanchard had sustained a nineteen percent (19%) permanent impairment of the whole man. Mr. Blanchard's treating orthopedic surgeon, Jerome Jones, M.D. had previously concluded that Mr. Blanchard had sustained a twenty percent (20%) permanent impairment of the whole man.

(R1-1-3). Despite this independent confirmation of the extent of Mr. Blanchard's injuries, and despite State Farm's own investigation of the accident which determined that Mr. Blanchard was hit from behind by a motor vehicle while Mr. Blanchard was stopped on his bicycle at an intersection, State Farm continued to refuse to make any good faith offer to

-4-

settle the Blanchards' claims for an amount realistically reflecting the extent of the injuries (R1-1-3).

After State Farm refused to consent to arbitration and refused to make a good faith settlement offer, the Blanchards initiated the state court action against Powell and State Farm jointly (R1-1-3 through 4). While that action was pending, the Blanchards continued to try to settle their UM claim (R1-1-4). However, State Farm persisted in refusing to engage in good faith settlement negotiations (R1-1-4). Mr. and Mrs. Blanchard accordingly notified the Department of Insurance of the State of Florida of State Farm's violation of Section 624.155, Florida Statutes.³

During the sixty-day "grace period" under Section 624.155 (during which an insurance carrier may correct the statutory violation without incurring any additional liability), State Farm did not pay the UM benefits, nor did it attempt in good faith to settle Mr. and Mrs. Blanchard's claim (R1-1-4). As alleged in the complaint,

Thereafter, the defendant [State Farm] continued its course of conduct in refusing to attempt in good faith to settle the claims when it could and should have done so, had it acted fairly and honestly towards the plaintiffs and with due regard for their interests. The defendant continued to engage in its bad faith refusal to make a reasonable offer of settlement *through, and after, the trial* of the aforesaid civil action.

(R1-1-4; emphasis added).

³Section 624.155, Florida Statutes (1985), provides, inter alia:

(1) Any person may bring a civil action against an insurer when such person is damaged: ...

(b) By the commission of any of the following acts by the insurer:

1. Not attempting in good faith to settle claims when, under all the circumstances, it could and should have done so, had it acted fairly and honestly toward its insured and with due regard for his interests.

The jury in the state court action assessed the damages at approximately twice the UM policy limits (R1-1-4).⁴ In the bad faith suit, the Blanchards sought the difference between the judgment and their policy limits.⁵ In addition, the Blanchards sought compensation for the mental anguish and humiliation caused by the needless litigation of the underlying claim and for the increased attorneys' fees and costs due to the unnecessary trial of the UM claim (R1-1-5).

II. Summary of the Argument

Issue One (Time of Accrual): By definition, a cause of action for bad faith mishandling of an insurance claim cannot occur until the bad faith occurs; the mere denial of a contractual claim does not thereby immediately create a bad faith cause of action (otherwise, every claim for insurance benefits would result in a claim for extra-contractual damages). Rather, a claim for bad faith necessarily requires some wrongful conduct on the part of the insurer *after* the incident giving rise to the contractual claim has occurred. Accordingly, it is impossible for the bad faith cause of action to accrue until sometime after the contractual action has ripened. Indeed, this is consistent with the well-

⁴As noted above, the judgment against State Farm was limited to the amount of the policy limits (\$200,000), without prejudice to the Blanchards' right to bring a separate bad faith action to recover the excess damages over the policy limits (R1-1-4 through 4 & Exhibit "E").

⁵The excess of the actual damages over the uninsured motorist insurance policy limits is recognized as an appropriate element of damages in an action against the UM carrier for its failure to settle in good faith. Jones v. Continental Ins. Co., 716 F. Supp. 1456 (S.D. Fla. 1989). See also Opperman v. Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co., 515 So. 2d 263 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987).

established law that a third party bad faith action does not accrue until after an excess verdict has been recovered.

Issue Two (Permissive Joinder): If the Court were to conclude that a cause of action for bad faith failure to settle *does* mature before resolution of the underlying litigation, then under the liberal rules of joinder of claims, the *permissive* joinder of a bad faith claim with a contractual claim should be authorized. However, sound policy reasons would militate against permitting joinder in such situations.

Issue Three (Mandatory Joinder): If the Court were to find that a cause of action for bad faith accrues *before* resolution of the underlying contractual dispute *and* that joinder of contractual and bad faith claims is permitted, then the Court must decide whether such joinder is mandatory. Because permissively joined causes of action need not necessarily be joined, it is clear that there is no reason to mandatorily require the simultaneous litigation of such disputes.

III. Argument

Question One:

An Insured's Claim Against an Uninsured Motorist Carrier Under Section 624.155(1)(b)1., Florida Statutes, for Allegedly Failing to Settle the Uninsured Motorist Claim in Good Faith Does Not Accrue Before the Conclusion of the Underlying Litigation for the Contractual Uninsured Motorist Insurance Benefits.

As the Eleventh Circuit noted, there is "a division in the reasoning among the Florida district courts of appeal" (slip op. at 3119) on the issue of when a statutory cause of action for bad faith under Section 624.155 arises. On one hand, several courts have held that the conduct which gives rise to the claim for bad faith (i.e., the wrongful failure to settle) is separate and independent from the act which gives rise to the contractual claim (i.e., the

payment of premiums and subsequent injury). See. e.g., Opperman v. Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co., 515 So.2d 263 (5th DCA 1987), review denied, 523 So.2d 578 (Fla. 1988); Rowland v. Safeco Ins. Co. of Am., 634 F. Supp. 613 (M.D. Fla. 1986); State Farm Mut. Automobile Ins. Co. v. Lenard, 531 So.2d 180 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988). The contrary view has been expressed by the Third District in Schimmel v. Aetna Casualty & Sur. Co., 506 So.2d 1162 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987). Schimmel held that a cause of action under Section 624.155 is indivisible from the underlying contractual cause of action and, accordingly, a plaintiff who fails to sue the defendant insurer for bad faith in any contractual claim has "split his cause of action" if suit is later brought under Section 624.155. The United States District Court in the present case found the rule in *Schimmel* to be "formalistic," but nevertheless applied Schimmel to dismiss Mr. and Mrs. Blanchard's claim. The Eleventh Circuit, on the other hand, found the conflict between Schimmel and the other cases to be troubling (Slip op. at 3119), and that "[t]he conflict among the district courts of appeal apparently causes hardship for plaintiffs and insurance carriers: plaintiffs are compelled to raise bad faith claims in all insurance disputes and insurance carriers must defend, at least preliminarily, bad faith claims in routine cases." (Slip op. at 3119).

A. Logic and Established Precedent Dictate that a Cause of Action <u>Under Section 624.155 Arises Independently of the Underlying Contractual Claim.</u>

By certifying this issue as dispositive, the Eleventh Circuit recognized that the present case turns on the issue of when an action for a violation of Section 624.155(1)(b)1. arises. For if such a cause of action arises independently of the contractual claim, then a plaintiff cannot "split the cause of action" by bringing separate suits for the two causes of action. On the other hand, if the Section 624.155 cause of action accrues at the same time that the contractual claim arises, then at least one of the requirements for the doctrine of "splitting causes of action" would apply. Thus, the initial issue is the *timing* of when a Section 624.155 claim matures. This issue was squarely decided in *Rowland v*. Safeco Ins. Co. of Am., 634 F. Supp. 613 (M.D. Fla. 1986).

In *Rowland*, the plaintiffs originally presented a claim for UM coverage to their insurer, Safeco. When Safeco failed to respond in a timely manner to the plaintiffs' demands, the Rowlands filed suit in state court and obtained a declaratory judgment determining the extent of coverage. The plaintiffs subsequently filed a separate suit in federal district court under Section 624.155. Safeco moved to dismiss, arguing, among other things, that Section 624.155 could not be applied retroactively (Section 624.155 had become effective in 1982, after the Safeco policy was issued and after the accident occurred). Thus, in *Rowland*, the court was presented with the issue of what circumstances give rise to the accrual of a cause of action for a violation of Section 624.155 -- i.e., does the cause of action arise at the same time and out of the same facts as the underlying claim for UM benefits; or does it arise **independently** of the underlying cause of action? The court ruled that the cause of action for bad faith refusal to settle arises independently of the underlying claim for UM benefits:

Safeco first argues that Fla. Stat. § 624.155 may not be applied retroactively to this case. The statute became effective in 1982. Safeco apparently contends that the instant cause of action arose in 1980 when the accident occurred or before 1980 when the policy was issued. The Court need not decide whether the statute can be applied retroactively because *a cause of action for bad faith refusal to pay first party claims arises when the alleged bad faith actions occur, not when the policy was issued or the accident occurred. See* Couch on Insurance 2d, § 58.7 (1983). In this case, plaintiffs sent the first demand letter in August of 1983. Plaintiffs allege that Safeco's actions in handling the demand, occurring between 1983 and 1985, constituted bad faith refusal to pay. Therefore, the cause of action arose sometime between 1983 and 1985 when, allegedly, the insurer unreasonably failed to pay the claim.

Rowland, 634 F.Supp at 614 (emphasis added).

The result in *Rowland* is supported by the holding of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in Opperman v. Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co., 515 So.2d 263 (5th DCA 1987), review denied, 523 So.2d 578 (Fla. 1988). In Opperman, the court was presented with the issue of whether a Section 624.155 claim was distinct from the underlying contractual claim so as to be separately appealable. The Oppermans brought a two count complaint against their uninsured motorist carrier after recovering an arbitration award in excess of the UM policy limits. In one count, they sought enforcement of the arbitration award; in the second count, they sought to recover the excess of the arbitration award over the policy limits and other non-contractual damages under Section 624.155 for the UM carrier's alleged bad faith refusal to settle. The trial court dismissed the Section 624.155 claim, but allowed the count to enforce the arbitration award to remain pending; and the Oppermans took an immediate appeal of the dismissal of the bad faith claim. The appellate court was thus presented with the issue of whether the dismissal of the bad faith count was an unappealable interlocutory ruling, or whether it was instead an appealable final dismissal of a distinct and severable cause of action. The Fifth District held that the bad faith claim was distinct, and that the court therefore had appellate jurisdiction, stating:

A final order which adjudicates a **distinct and severable cause of action, not interrelated with the remaining claims** pending in the trial court is appealable as a final order. Mendez v. West Flagler Family Association, 303 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1974).

515 So.2d at 264 n.1 (emphasis added).

-10-

The view that the Section 624.155 cause of action arises independently of the contractual claim has also been endorsed by the Second District Court of Appeal. *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Lenard*, 531 So.2d 180 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988). In *Lenard*, plaintiffs brought suit against their auto insurance carrier, State Farm, for UM benefits. While the suit was pending, but before a final judgment was obtained, the Lenards were permitted to amend their complaint to state a claim against State Farm under Section 624.155. State Farm sought review of the order permitting the Section 624.155 claim by way of petition for writ of certiorari, contending that the trial court had caused irremediable injury by permitting the amendment.⁶ The court was therefore faced with the issue of whether the underlying UM claim and the section 624.155 claim "arose out of a single incident" within the meaning of *Schimmel* so as to require their joinder. The Second District disagreed with *Schimmel* and held that it did **not** require the simultaneous assertion of the bad faith claim in the underlying action:

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