#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NUMBER 76,243

DONALD E. BLANCHARD, JR. and PATRICIA S. BLANCHARD,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

vs.

STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY, an Illinois corporation,

Defendant-Appellee.



ON CERTIFICATION FROM THE
UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT
TO THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA
PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 5, SECTION 3(b)(6)
OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION

ANSWER BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLEE
STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY

TAYLOR, DAY & RIO

10 South Newman Street

Jacksonville, Florida 32202

By: Stephen E. Day
Florida Bar No.: 110905
Ada A. Hammond
Florida Bar No.:318302

Attorneys for Defendant-Appellee

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

#### VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Under currently existing Florida intermediate appellate law, a first party bad faith claim under §624.155(1)(b)1., must be joined with the underlying action by the insured for uninsured motorist benefits, under the rule which precludes the splitting In this case, the Blanchards did not join of causes of action. their bad faith and uninsured motorist claims in one action, but rather, litigated the uninsured motorist case to conclusion in State Court and subsequently initiated a separate action on their §624.155 claim in Federal Court based on diversity of citizenship jurisdiction. Federal Courts, sitting in diversity, are bound to apply currently existing Florida law, and are not authorized to modify or overrule the decisions of Florida's District Courts of Consequently, the Appeal in determining issues of state law. Blanchards' Federal District Court properly dismissed the complaint, under existing Florida law which mandates the joinder of the claims.

Because the dispositive issues in regard to this case have been certified to this Court by the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals, the parties appropriately may for the first time in these proceedings argue for a reexamination of Florida law in regard to the issues which have been certified to this Court.

#### A. ACCRUAL

An insured's underlying first party action for uninsured motorist benefits against the insurer necessarily must be resolved favorably to the insured, before a cause of action under §624.155 for failure to settle the uninsured motorist claim in good faith can accrue. Absent liability for payment of insurance benefits on the part of the insurer, it cannot be argued that the insurer failed to exercise good faith by not settling the insured's claim. Hence, an essential element, or prerequisite, to the maintaining of an action under §624.155 for failure to settle a claim in good faith is that the insured be legally entitled to the insurance benefits sought, since without such a legal entitlement to insurance benefits, the insurer would have no duty to settle an insurance claim for such benefits. Florida law, a cause of action must be complete and all elements thereof must be in existence at the time that the action is filed. Otherwise, the action is premature and must be dismissed. If all of the elements of a cause of action are not present at the time of filing suit, the defect cannot be remedied by the accrual of one of the elements of a cause of action while the suit is pending. Accordingly, until the underlying uninsured motorist dispute is resolved favorably to the insured, an essential element or prerequisite to the bad faith cause of action is not present and therefore, the bad faith action has not accrued and cannot be maintained.

#### B. PERMISSIVE JOINDER

Should this Court find that the first party bad faith cause of action does accrue prior to resolution of the underlying action for uninsured motorist benefits, joinder of the bad faith cause of action with the underlying insurance action nevertheless should not be permitted, because such joinder results irremediable prejudice to the parties. The evidence that must be presented in the bad faith case is inherently prejudicial and inadmissible in the underlying uninsured motorist Moreover, the attorneys for the parties would be material witnesses in the bad faith case, and as such, would have to withdraw from representation of their respective clients if the bad faith and uninsured motorist actions are litigated jointly. Joinder of the actions is unworkable and in the interest of effective judicial administration, should not be permitted.

#### C. MANDATORY JOINDER

Should this Court find that the bad faith action does accrue prior to resolution of the underlying uninsured motorist action, and further find that joinder of the two actions is not prejudicial and that the actions can be jointly litigated, then this Court would be in agreement with currently existing Florida

law and therefore, joinder is mandatory under the doctrine prohibiting the splitting of causes of action.

#### VII. ARGUMENT

#### HISTORY OF THE ISSUE

There is only one Florida decision which squarely addresses the mandatory joinder of an insured's first party claim against an insurer under §624.155(1)(b)1., Florida Statutes, with the underlying action for insurance benefits. This is the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal in Schimmel v. Aetna Casualty and Surety Company, 506 So.2d 1162 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1987). Schimmel involved a first party claim by an insured against his own insurance carrier for property damage insurance benefits. The Schimmels asserted that their insurance carrier had not settled their insurance claim in good faith, and therefore filed an action against the insurer alleging breach of the insurance After receiving a favorable judgment on their contract. insurance claim, the Schimmels instituted a separate action against the insurer, under §624.155(1)(b)1., Florida Statutes, for the insurer's alleged failure to settle the underlying insurance claim in good faith.

The Third District Court of Appeal held that the §624.155 claim was barred, under the rule which precludes the splitting of causes of action, finding that the Schimmels were required to assert their §624.155 action against the insurance carrier at the same time that they asserted their underlying insurance claim.

The Third District reasoned that the two claims were part of a single cause of action and that therefore, under the rule against splitting causes of action, all damages sustained or accruing to one as a result of a single wrongful act must be claimed and recovered in one action or not at all.

Subsequently, in State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company v. Lenard, 531 So.2d 180 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988), the Trial Court extended the Schimmel holding to an uninsured motorist claim and allowed joinder with a claim under §624.155. On Petition for Common Law Certiorari, the Second District Court of Appeal did not reach the Schimmel issue, however, holding instead that the Trial Court did not depart from the essential requirements of law in determining that the Lenards could (rather than must) assert all of their claims at one time. Court noted that the Trial Court may have had no discretion to do otherwise, in light of the holding in Schimmel. The Lenard Court expressed concern about the potential unworkability of the Schimmel holding, but reserved those issues for later appellate review, as necessary. While the Lenard Court did not have to determine, for purposes of the splitting a cause of action issue, whether the statutory claim and the uninsured motorist claim must be asserted at the same time, inherent in the Court's decision is a finding that the bad faith claim accrued prior to resolution of the underlying uninsured motorist claim.

Subsequently, the Third District applied its decision in Schimmel to a case involving joinder of an uninsured motorist

Claim with a §624.155(1)(b)1. claim in the case of <u>Colonial Penn Insurance Co. v. Roslyn Mayor</u>, 538 So.2d 100 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989), finding in this case that the insured had properly joined the claims, "as required by <u>Schimmel</u>". 538 So.2d at 101 (emphasis supplied) Somewhat inconsistently, the Court also required abatement of the statutory bad faith claim.

In addition to the Third District and the Second District, the other Florida District Courts of Appeal that have considered first party bad faith claims filed under §624.155 have, following Schimmel, at least permitted joinder with the underlying first party claim for insurance benefits. Of necessity, each has found, albeit without directly addressing the issue, that the bad faith claim accrues before resolution of the underlying insurance claim. Allstate Insurance Company v. Lovell, 530 So.2d 1106 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1988); State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company v. Kelly, 533 So.2d 787 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988); Independent Fire Insurance Company v. Lugassy, 538 So.2d 550 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989); Allstate Insurance Company v. Melendez, 550 So.2d 156 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989); Royal Insurance Company of America v. Zayas Mens Shop, 551 So.2d 553 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989); U.S.A.A. v. Grant, 555 So.2d 892 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). In each case, the issue reached the Appellate Court at an interlocutory stage, and in no case was the Court confronted with questions arising out of the inherent inconsistency and prejudice from joint litigation of the claims. Many recognized the difficulties necessarily encountered with the approach<sup>1</sup> and some required abatement as a solution.<sup>2</sup> In each case decided, however, the problems addressed to this Court by the parties <u>sub judice</u>, were reserved for later consideration on appeal.

Based upon currently existing Florida law, as cited above, the Federal District Court in this diversity case found that it was bound to hold under Florida law, that because the Blanchards failed to assert their Florida Statute §624.155 claim in the prior action that they had prosecuted to judgment in the State Court for uninsured motorist benefits, they could not assert the claim now in the separate federal action, under the rule against splitting causes of action.

The District Court noted that a number of the Florida Appellate decisions subsequent to <u>Schimmel</u> had held that while the bad faith claim was properly joined with the underlying insurance contract claim, the bad faith claim had to be abated, pending resolution of the underlying insurance claim and stated its belief that it may be formalistic to have to bring a claim only to have that claim abated. However, the District Court properly found that it was bound by the precedents of the State of Florida, since it is clear that a Federal Court sitting in diversity has no authority to overrule or modify the state law

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See <u>State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co. v. Lenard</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Allstate Insurance Co. v. Lovell</u>; <u>supra</u>; <u>Colonial Penn Insurance Co. v. Roslyn Mayor</u>, <u>supra</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See <u>Allstate Insurance Co. v. Lovell</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Colonial Penn Insurance Co. v. Roslyn Mayor</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Independent Fire Insurance Co. v. Lugassy</u>, <u>supra</u>.

which it must apply in resolving state law issues. diversity of citizenship case involving Florida law, where the state's highest Court has not addressed the issue in question, the Federal Courts are bound by the decisions of the Florida District Courts of Appeal. Erie R. Co. v. Tompkins, 304 U.S. 64 (1938); Maseda v. Honda Motor Company, Ltd., 861 F.2d 1248 (11th Cir. 1988); Rabon v. Automatic Fasteners, Inc., 672 F.2d 1231, 1235 NT.7 (5th Cir. Unit B, 1982) ("We are bound by the decision of the District Court of Appeal as we would be by a decision of Florida Supreme Court."); Bailey v. Southern Pacific Transportation Company, 613 F.2d 1385, 1388 (5th Cir. 1980) ("In diversity cases Erie teaches us that where state law has been announced by the state's highest Court - it is to be followed. Intermediate State Court decisions are also to be followed in the absence of a decision from the highest Court, unless this Court is convinced that the highest Court would decide otherwise."); Allen v. A.G. Edwards & Sons, Inc., 606 F.2d 84, 86 (5th Cir. 1979) ("We are bound by these [appellate court decisions] absent indication by Florida's highest Court that the decisions do not reflect the law of the state.").

It is only this Court, through the mechanism of certification of questions by the Federal Courts of Appeal, that can overrule or modify currently existing Florida decisions by the District Courts of Appeal in resolving issues of Florida law presented to the Federal Courts. Therefore, this is the first time in these proceedings that it is appropriate for the parties

to argue for a reexamination of currently existing Florida law. The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals has asked this Court for guidance in this case, because of the lack of consistency in the reasoning among the Florida District Courts of Appeal on the issue presented herein and because the decisions of the District Courts of Appeal cause hardship for plaintiffs and insurance carriers in that plaintiffs are compelled to raise bad faith claims in all first party insurance disputes (to avoid the Schimmel rule in regard to splitting of causes of action) and insurance carriers must defend bad faith claims in virtually all routine cases.

#### **QUESTION ONE:**

AN INSURED'S CLAIM AGAINST AN UNINSURED MOTORIST CARRIER UNDER §624.155(1)(b)1., FLORIDA STATUTES, FOR ALLEGEDLY FAILING TO SETTLE THE UNINSURED MOTORIST CLAIM IN GOOD FAITH DOES NOT ACCRUE BEFORE THE CONCLUSION OF THE UNDERLYING LITIGATION FOR THE CONTRACTUAL UNINSURED MOTORIST BENEFITS.

As noted above, only the <u>Schimmel</u> Court has directly addressed when a first party cause of action under Florida Statute §624.155 accrues and must be asserted, and that Court has held that the action accrues contemporaneously with the accrual of the underlying first party insurance action and must be joined with that action. As it did in <u>Lenard</u>, when the issue is addressed in the context of an uninsured motorist claim, State Farm respectfully disagrees.

In an uninsured motorist claim, the better reasoned approach is that the insured's underlying first party action for insurance insurer necessarily must be resolved benefits against the favorably to the insured, before the cause of action for bad faith in settlement negotiations can accrue. Absent a jury's determination of the existence of liability on the part of the uninsured tortfeasor, and the nature and extent of plaintiffs' damages, it cannot be determined that the insurer failed to exercise good faith by not settling the insured's claim. One element of the cause of action questioning the good faith conduct of settlement negotiations is the threshold issue comparing the positions taken by the parties during settlement negotiations to the result achieved at trial of the claim. Although an adverse jury verdict in the trial of the underlying claim does not per se rise to the level of bad faith during settlement negotiations, a jury's vindication of the insurance company's settlement position is the threshold sine qua non to the accrual of the bad faith action.

Thus, an essential element, or prerequisite, to the maintenance of an action under §624.155(1)(b)1. for failure to settle a claim in good faith is that the insured be found to have been legally entitled to the insurance benefits in the amounts demanded. This can be seen in the language of the statute itself. The statute provides as follows:

## Section 624.155 Civil Remedy. -

(1) Any person may bring a civil action against an insurer when such person is damaged:

- (b) By the commission of any of the following acts by the insurer:
  - 1. Not attempting in good faith to settle claims when, under all the circumstances, it could and **should** have done so, had it acted fairly and honestly towards its insured and with due regard for his interests;

#### (Emphasis supplied)

It can be said that an insurer "should" have acquiesced to the settlement demands of an insured, only when the insured is legally entitled to the insurance benefits in the amounts that he demanded. When a first party insurance claim is disputed and is therefore litigated, it is not until after judgment has become against the insurer that it can be said, without final speculation, that there existed liability on the part of the insurer for payment of the insurance benefits in the amounts Of course, the fact that an insurance sought by its insured. company fails to settle a case and is subsequently adjudged liable for payment of insurance benefits does not, by itself, result in liability on the part of the insurance company for Otherwise, every disputed failure to settle in good faith. insurance claim that was resolved in favor of the insured would give rise to bad faith on the part of the insurer, whether or not the insurer had a reasonable basis for disputing the claim. Where disputed evidence exists in regard to the underlying claim, it may well be reasonable, and not in bad faith, for an insurer to rely upon a trial to determine the issues. In order to prevail in the subsequent bad faith action, the insured must show that the dispute was not in good faith, based upon arguable facts in evidence. <u>Boston Old Colony Insurance Co. v. Gutierrez</u>, 386 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1980).

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